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FOREWORD


This is the fascinating story of the world’s first purpose-built prisoner-of-war camp at Norman Cross, Huntingdonshire. It was opened in 1797 and closed in 1814. The 7,000 inmates were housed in barrack blocks behind high walls and the camp was equipped with kitchens, dining areas and a substantial medical wing. Some 1,770 prisoners died during the camp’s seventeen years of use, and are buried on the premises in a cemetery whose whereabouts remained unknown until the site was excavated by archaeologists from Time Team, Channel 4’s television documentary series, over three days in July 2009.


My interest was first aroused as a young boy in the 1950s when I can clearly remember driving up to the Norman Cross junction on the Great North Road and seeing the unforgettable sight of an eagle poised on top a graceful column. It looked so very lifelike. I asked my father, the fount of all wisdom, what it was. ‘Oh,’ he replied, ‘that’s a memorial to the men who died there, when a Zeppelin was shot down in the First World War.’ And of course I believed him. But some twenty years later, when I was starting to read about the region’s rich history before I began a series of major excavations as part of the building of Peterborough New Town, I realised that my father had been talking rubbish. There had never been a crashed Zeppelin. Readers of this book will be able to discover the truth about that eagle and its interesting later life on either side of the Great North Road, or A1, as we must now call it.


My main excavations in Peterborough were far from Norman Cross, at Fengate, on the city’s eastern edge, but I spent many happy days in Peterborough Museum, where our team had temporary offices and where most of our finds were archived. In the museum I could hardly fail not to be impressed by a series of superbly carved bone models – I particularly remember a warship and a guillotine – that had been fashioned by Napoleonic prisoners of war, based at Norman Cross. We found good evidence for the making of these carvings in our Time Team excavations and they are discussed fully in Chapter 8.


Today, little remains of the actual camp, although parts of the main exterior wall survive on either side of the elegant Barrack Master’s House (also known as Norman Cross Lodge). This book discusses what remains of the camp and of objects that we know were made there. It goes on to consider all aspects of life at Norman Cross, from the prisoners themselves and the staff looking after and guarding them, to the camp’s administration, the cooking, medical procedures and provision for hammocks. This attention to detail throws vivid light on life both within and outside the camp’s tall surrounding walls. There was a surprising amount of contact between prisoners and local people. It’s a gripping story that deserves to be read from cover to cover.


Dr Francis Pryor
2018




INTRODUCTION


In 1913, Dr Thomas James Walker published The Depot for Prisoners of War at Norman Cross, Huntingdonshire, 1796 to 1816 that until now has been the only reference work telling the story of this major Napoleonic prison. His work was a prelude to unveiling the Norman Cross Eagle Memorial the following year. The path to this new study began in the autumn of 1990, when that memorial was vandalised and the bronze eagle stolen. The Norman Cross Eagle Appeal was formed to raise funds for its restoration and to promote a greater understanding of the depot and its place in history. As you read this book it will be evident how successful that group of people has been in achieving this aim, and I was privileged to be one of those early enthusiasts who wanted to restore an important part of our heritage, and it was also another strand to my special interest in the Napoleonic prisoner-of-war story.


Since those early meetings at Peterborough Museum to plan fundraising and publicity for the appeal, the story of Norman Cross Prison Depot has become a big part of my life, with many friends made along the way. It is also a journey that keeps throwing up new facts and hitherto untold stories of a fascinating subject, so I have many people to thank for what has been an enjoyable and rewarding delve into the past to bring the story into the present.


First and foremost, I must thank the Friends of Norman Cross: the modern agent at the site Derek Lopez and his wife Mary, Peter Lee, Olive Main, Doug Maltman, Val Hunter, Teresa Williams, Norma Nichols; this group of enthusiastic supporters of the story has made this book possible.


Along the way many have provided help with facts, new stories to pursue, or access to archives and items that add to the story. Those people I am grateful to are David Adamson, Rob Adamson, Roy and Leslie Adkin, Bob Bioletti, Sue Bond, Mick Crumplin, Liz Davies, Tom and Jennie Davies, Nykle Dijkstra, Julie Fletcher, Barbara Heathcote, Richard Hillier, Pam Judkins, Margaret Long, Andrew Longworth, Lorraine Mepham, Neil Mitchell, Elise Naish, Stuart Orme, Ben Robinson, Phil Stevens, Glenys Wass.


Thanks also go to the staff at many archives and museums: the British Library, Hampshire Cultural Trust, Huntingdon Library and Archives, Lynn Museum, The National Archives Kew, Peterborough Central Library and Archives, Peterborough Museum and Art Gallery, Wakefield Museums, Wessex Archaeology, Yarmouth Museum, Penrith Library New South Wales, Wardown House Museum and Gallery Luton.


Thanks go to Francis Pryor for adding his foreword and to Time Team for the fascinating and very enjoyable three days spent in the summer of 2009 digging up the past. Thanks also to Matilda Richards and Nicola Guy at The History Press for their guidance in the production of this book.


Last but not least, thanks go to my wife Melissa for her support of me during this project, tolerating the endless hours I have spent in my office or at archives around the country, and for the many occasions she has helped with presentations at Norman Cross.


Paul Chamberlain
2018
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1


REMEMBERING THE PRISON


Philippe Gauthier and his fellow soldiers in the 1er Régiment d’Infanterie Légère were in high spirits and confident of victory as they marched towards the British at Maida, Calabria, southern Italy. While advancing to contact they suffered casualties from artillery fire, and when they were within 100 yards the British fired a devastating volley. Casualties were so high that in a matter of minutes the 1er Légère lost all momentum. The British closed the range to 15 yards, delivered another shattering volley and then charged. The French turned and fled.1 The British pursuit gained them many prisoners, including Gauthier. Aside from giving its name to a region to the west of London, the Battle of Maida on 4 July 1806 produced 722 prisoners, many spending the remainder of the war at Norman Cross. Philippe Gauthier was one of them. He did not remain long in the prison, for on 31 December 1807 he died of a fever. He lies buried in the prison cemetery.


Until 1990 travellers making their way north along the A1 were familiar with a stone column surmounted by an eagle, majestically hovering over the road with outstretched wings. On investigation they would discover that it was not, in fact, a memorial to Canadian servicemen from the Second World War, but a tribute to men who died in the vicinity during an earlier conflict.


This memorial has its own story to tell, beginning on 28 July 1914. The Annual Report of the Peterborough Natural History, Scientific and Archaeological Society headlined that the Hon. L. Walter Rothschild entertained 300 guests, recording that:




It was a great day for the L’Entente Cordiale Society on Tuesday, when the memory of 1770 French prisoners who lie at Norman Cross was perpetuated by both the French and English nations by the erection of a Mortuary Pillar by the side of the Great North Road at Norman Cross. It is partly in the field of the dead and partly on the side of this great highway north to south, and cannot fail to arrest the attention of all who pass … The monument, which is French in its character of design, bears aloft the French Eagle – not in an attitude of defiance but mournful, sorrowful, in so far as it is possible for a clever sculptor to convey these characteristics, by drooped head and pendant wings. The white stone column rests on a square base, and on each side are gun metal tablets, on which are inscribed the objects of the memorial and the circumstances under which it has been erected. The whole rests on a stone setting which is shaped to represent the exact outline of the outer limits of the Norman Cross Prison.





The original monument cost just over £200 – ‘towards which Dr Walker, of Peterborough, collected amongst the members of the Museum Society and his friends the sum of £80. Indeed, to Dr Walker – whose recent book on Norman Cross will ever be a classic – the credit largely rests for the attainment of the great object.’2


The project was international and its success was due in no small part to the generosity of the L’Entente Cordial Society. The memorial was erected during the centenary commemoration of the Napoleonic Wars, and so involvement of this society was an example of how two nations, once longstanding enemies, could co-operate in remembering a shared history. Throughout the nineteenth century the Napoleonic conflict had been known in Britain as ‘The Great War’. One week after the French guests had caught the 5.30 p.m. train from Peterborough to London, no doubt pleased with the success of the day’s event, the two countries were involved in a war again, but this time allied against a common enemy.


The 1914–18 conflict involved most European nations and was fought throughout the world, producing a terrible body count by the time it was over. ‘The Great War’ came to refer to this conflict, but whatever the name given to such conflicts, that of the late eighteenth and early nineteenth century was just as bloody; being fought on every continent and every ocean. That earlier conflict brought many thousands of men to Norman Cross, where one day they would be commemorated with an international memorial.


It is a simplification to think that the memorial commemorates only Frenchmen. The depot at Norman Cross held a cross-section of nationalities as the Emperor Napoleon demanded a continual supply of men to serve his fleets and march in his armies, and so ‘French’ armies also contained Dutch, Italians, Poles, Swiss and Germans. The Norman Cross Eagle Memorial remembers all the men who died at the prison, regardless of their nationality, such as one Marigné, an African native taken on board the Tartuffe merchant vessel; Pierre Chalaux, boatswain of Gunboat No. 311, part of Napoleon’s invasion armada captured off Boulogne; H. Arens, armourer on the Dutch 68-gun De Vries, taken at the Battle of Camperdown; Sergeant-Major Denis Godart of the 16e Régiment d’Infanterie de Ligne, serving on board the Berwick at Trafalgar; and Pierre Francois Molin, a private in the 15e Régiment d’Infanterie Légère captured in Portugal in 1809. The myriad of nationalities that fought in this long conflict are commemorated by the memorial, and lie buried in this quiet corner of the English countryside.3


These men were remembered by a memorial that stood until October 1990, when thieves toppled the stone column and made off with the bronze eagle. Within months a group of interested parties came together to plan its restoration, the project given impetus by the enthusiasm of the late Martin Howe, then curator of Peterborough Museum, plus representatives from the Napoleonic Association, Le Souvenir Français and many local societies, all of whom recognised the local, national and international significance of the monument. It was a piece of local heritage; a national memorial to the Napoleonic period; and a memorial to French war dead. Fundraising began immediately.


The Norman Cross Eagle Appeal was formed to restore the memorial but also to promote greater knowledge of Norman Cross Prison Depot, telling the story of the site and promoting interest in the collection of bone models made by the prisoners now housed at Peterborough Museum in the Norman Cross Gallery, the largest and most varied collection of prisoner-of-war work in the world. In 1897, the Natural History, Scientific and Archaeology Society commemorated the centenary of the depot with a temporary exhibition in the cathedral precincts. An appeal was launched asking local people for forgotten family heirlooms and many items from the prison were submitted for display. Afterwards, most lenders donated their treasures to the society, who later became Peterborough Museum, and this collection began the Norman Cross Gallery. Over the following years the society was able to acquire many more interesting items hitherto unseen by the public. Peterborough Museum, with the support of its friends, the Museum Society and the people of Peterborough, still continues to collect, preserve and display significant Norman Cross objects.


The original site of the memorial was subsumed in the widening of the A1 (originally known as the Great North Road) to motorway standard that was completed in 1998. A new site for the column was found along the A15 at the corner of the field in which the depot lay; a more appropriate setting for the memorial. By October that year the column was in place, together with an information board telling the story of the depot. The new motorway was formally opened by Sir Brian Mawhinney MP, former Secretary of State for Transport, who on the same day unveiled the column. This ceremony gave impetus to fundraising for a replacement eagle, with money being donated by large organisations, local groups and individuals throughout the world, all of whom recognised the importance of such a memorial. A grant from the Local Heritage Initiative (part of the Heritage Lottery Fund) allowed the commissioning of sculptor John Doubleday to create a new eagle.


The project was not simply the restoration of a vandalised memorial. The generous support from individuals and organisations worldwide, and the Lottery funding, enabled the appeal to expand to achieve greater community involvement in the story of the depot. The Lottery funding was used for a number of purposes, including strengthening links with the Norman Cross Gallery. A resource pack was devised to explain the depot’s story to teachers and students, while a Heritage Trail booklet was published linking the memorial, prison site and museum through sites of Napoleonic interest in the area. A community embroidery group produced a tapestry telling the story of the depot for display at schools, churches and museums. After completion of the project the Friends of Norman Cross have continued telling the story with an annual programme of events, including participation in the Heritage Open Days that attract visitors who are intrigued by such history on their doorstep. In 2015, the Friends of Norman Cross won a competition held by Heritage Open Days and were invited to the HOD launch held in London in the presence of the Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport.


Many veterans of Trafalgar were held at Norman Cross, and the appeal had a link with them through the late Vice-Admiral Jean-Pierre Lucas, descendant of Captain Jean Jacques Etienne Lucas, commander of the Redoutable from which the fatal shot was fired that killed Nelson. Jean-Pierre Lucas encouraged the generous support of Le Souvenir Français, emphasising the international importance of the project in keeping with the involvement of L’Entente Cordial Society with the original memorial.


The Battle of Trafalgar on 21 October 1805 produced a large number of prisoners, many of whom were held at Norman Cross. 2005 was a special year in that the bicentenary of this battle was commemorated the length and breadth of the country, and it was only fitting that Norman Cross should be part of the event. On 2 April, His Grace the late eighth Duke of Wellington inaugurated the new eagle, watched by over a thousand people, many of whom had travelled a great distance for the occasion. His Grace was a patron and supporter of the appeal, and his involvement further demonstrated how the Norman Cross Eagle Memorial has living links with the events of 200 years ago, continuing to bring Britons and Frenchmen together to remember a shared history.


For 200 years, interest in the prison has focused on the story above ground. All that remains of the prison is the Agent’s House, the garrison’s straw barn (now housing the Norman Cross Art Gallery), Barrack Master’s House, a selection of the garrison buildings to the east of the site (now private dwellings) and a length of the prison wall. The depot was sold at auction in 1816, and during this sale some of the barrack buildings were sold for dwelling houses and re-erected in Peterborough, although none now remain. The outline of the prison can be seen from the air in dry weather. The pronounced earthwork remains of the broad ditch that provided a complete circuit of the prison, inside the wall, can be traced to the west of the site, as can the embrasures at which the four main gates of the prison were located.


Aside from the possible accidental exposure of human remains prior to 1914, there have been no recorded excavations within the depot site. A gas main was excavated across the site in the 1970s, but this was not accompanied by any archaeological recording. In 1995, a water pipeline was excavated alongside the site, close to the old line of the Great North Road, but no significant remains or artefacts associated with the prison were found. Over the years some military buttons have been unearthed, but what existed below ground was a mystery.


The site was ripe for a full archaeological investigation and the idea was taken up by Channel 4’s Time Team in 2009. This series, then in its seventeenth year, brought archaeology to a television audience and was popular viewing, with the team investigating historic sites that in many cases had not been explored before. All periods of history were included, from Roman, Saxon and medieval, to the Industrial Revolution and the Second World War. Norman Cross presented the programme makers with a chance to investigate a subject outside of mainstream history, and away from the Roman and medieval sites that abound throughout the country.


The series was fronted by Tony Robinson, well-known actor and historian, alongside familiar faces such as Francis Pryor leading the investigation; Phil Harding getting his hands dirty digging the site; Stewart Ainsworth investigating the surrounding landscape; and John Gator heading the geophysics that provided information as to where best to place trenches. Aside from the familiar cast, the programme made extensive use of many individuals, be they historians or people with their own local story to tell.4


July 2009 saw the Time Team production crew arriving on site. The remit of the dig was to investigate the construction of the prison, as Norman Cross was the first purpose-built depot, a forerunner of the prison camps used in the two world wars, and Time Team hoped to explore the structure of the barracks and the outer wall. For 200 years the site of the prisoners’ burial ground had remained a mystery, and it was hoped to locate the site. To use the phrase that Tony Robinson introduced each programme with, ‘we have just three days in which to find out’, the time they allotted each investigation.


The fifty-strong team – composed of camera crew, producers, researchers and archaeologists –opened up eight trenches based upon plans of the depot and geophysics of the area. As soon as the topsoil was removed a wealth of treasures was unearthed, including items made from bone that were carved by the prisoners, pottery, military buttons, glass, iron nails, knife handles and padlocks. The trenches revealed foundations of the barracks, the site of the Black Hole, (see Chapter 11) gravel paths and paved areas, and the ditch dug on the inside of the perimeter wall to give it more height. These structural finds were related to the geophysics of the site and contemporary plans of the depot.


All finds were cleaned and related to documentary evidence. Research in archives around the country had been performed in the months leading up to the dig, and this was analysed in the context of the archaeological finds. Historians Helen Geake, Bettany Hughes, Andy Robertshawe and the author were able to put some flesh on the artefacts uncovered. A button with the number ‘16’ could be related to soldiers serving on board French ships at Trafalgar, perhaps dropped by Sergeant-Major Denis Godart as he went about his daily routine in the prison. One button was identified as a 1792-pattern French military button, lost by one of the early captives at the depot. A button embossed with ‘48’ was dropped by a soldier taken at Flushing in 1809, while a button numbered ‘29’ was from a soldier serving in the Army of Calabria who accompanied Philippe Gauthier into captivity in July 1806.


The bone items reflected the manufacturing activity of the prisoners and many of those found were damaged or unfinished, perhaps parts of bone models and boxes that were dropped in the making and lost, possibly to the frustration of the maker. Ben Robinson, Archaeological and Historical Consultant from Peterborough Museum, interpreted these finds on camera, and the museum brought a selection of their superb collection to the Incident Room (the Norman Cross Art Gallery) to illustrate what the prisoners made using the bone from their food ration. The Time Team investigation brought together as much of the Norman Cross story as was possible in the time allocated to the dig, linking the documentary evidence and filming with the artefacts found on site. However, one important remit of the investigation was to locate the burial ground used to inter the 1,770 prisoners who died at the depot from 1797 until it closed in the summer of 1814.


The original memorial was sited ‘partly in the field of the dead and partly on the side of this great highway north to south’, and it was assumed that the field behind the memorial was the burial ground for the men who ended their lives at the depot. A trial trench evaluation on this field in 1990, prior to the widening of the A1, failed to find any trace of a cemetery. The field had contained some ridges, which were assumed to be evidence of graves, but the trial trenches indicated these were medieval ridge and furrow. Perhaps Dr Walker and Lord Rothschild had placed the memorial on this site simply because it was along the Great North Road, and thus would be seen by all who travelled by. From association with the field and its ridges the myth grew that this was actually the prisoners’ burial ground, although no investigations had been performed prior to erecting the memorial. So where were the prisoners buried? Burial of 1,770 bodies would cover a large area, and surprisingly no records existed that indicated where this cemetery might be. This book will examine the health of the prisoners but once they died they were buried without ceremony. In 1795, Mr George Hooper had the task of burying the dead at Portchester Castle, being contracted ‘to find elm coffins, shroud and dig the graves four feet deep and a covered cart to take them away’.5 This was the procedure that the authorities applied to all depots, occasionally reminding the agents that bodies should be buried at least 3ft deep.


For 200 years the location of the burial ground was a mystery. The memorial commemorated the dead and their death certificates are available in the National Archives, but there were no records of the location of the cemetery. The only reference found in the Transport Board records relates to an ‘enlargement of the burying ground at Norman Cross’ in December 1800.6 Time Team looked for the site by interpreting aerial photographs; topographical, geophysical, landscape and Lidar surveys of the site; plus what little was documented. The focus of much of this investigation was the north-east corner of the site, this area being within the prison boundary and where the garrison had its powder store. A brick building full of gunpowder was an edifice around which human activity was kept to a minimum, and so this ‘dead space’, for want of a better term, was suitable for disposing of bodies. This corner of the depot site seemed the most logical area to use for burials.


During the preliminary research for the dig it became apparent that there were in fact two burial grounds. In 1813, the Bishop of Lincoln had visited the depot and consecrated an area to the east of the depot for the burial of soldiers. The prisoners’ cemetery was never consecrated. In 1816, Major Kelly, who had been stationed there as part of the garrison, decided he liked the area and so purchased the Barrack Master’s House as a country residence. He wanted to extend his garden and enquired if he could purchase the patch of ground that had been sanctified. He was informed that consecrated land could not be purchased but it could be exchanged for an equivalent plot. Kelly was not deterred. He discovered that a field next to Yaxley Church was for sale, so this he purchased and returned to the Church authorities with a proposal to exchange his field for the area of land at the prison site. An impressive deed of exchange was drawn up and he thus acquired an extension to his garden! The house and garden passed down through the family until the last member came to sell the house, but could not include the consecrated area in the sale. This can only be exchanged, and so while no longer living in the Barrack Master’s House (also known as Norman Cross Lodge), he still owns an area of pasture to the east of the depot site where the bodies of two soldiers of the garrison are interred.


Geophysics of the north-east corner of the site revealed numerous anomalies that Time Team decided to investigate by opening up a trench across possible grave cuts. It was not the intention to exhume any bodies, but rather to locate and determine the extent of the burial ground. Jackie MacKinley, the Time Team osteoarchaeologist, would examine any bodies found, assess their condition and the burial practice, and relate these to the death certificates for the depot. This part of the dig was successful in that 1m2 exploratory trenches over the grave cuts discovered the remains of a number of prisoners, assessed as being aged in their 20s. A further trench helped to establish the extent of the cemetery, and firmly placed the burial ground in the north-east corner of the depot site, so we now know where Philippe Gauthier, Denis Godart and Pierre Francois Molin found their final resting place.


While the new eagle and the Time Team investigation have helped to promote the story, the Friends of Norman Cross have used appropriate anniversaries to take it further. The bicentenary of Trafalgar was a fitting year in which to unveil the new eagle, and in 2014 the 200th anniversary of the closure of the depot was commemorated with a ceremony at the memorial in partnership with Le Souvenir Français. The following year saw the commemoration of the Battle of Waterloo, the event that brought to an end the conflict that sent prisoners to Norman Cross. This was marked by a special heritage Open Day event entitled ‘Clash of the Titans’, at which tours of the depot were combined with displays by Napoleonic re-enactors, concluding with the presentation of a plaque sponsored by The Fenland Trust to place the site within the East of England Heritage trail; unveiled by Warwick Davis of Star Wars fame, who added celebrity status to the event.


So the story of Norman Cross Prison Depot continues, not only to relate the account of a prison and a large town, but to remember men such as Philippe Gauthier, Denis Godart and Pierre Francois Molin.




2


THE PRISON SYSTEM


Early in the war, the Admiralty was concerned about the possibility of powerful French frigates cruising against British trade in the Channel. France had some large ships armed with 18-pounder cannon, including the Revolutionaire, and the response of the Royal Navy to such a threat was to bring together squadrons of powerful frigates under its most competent captains. The Revolutionaire was a brand-new ship barely a week out of Le Havre when she ran into a squadron comprising the Arethusa, Artois, Diamond and Galatea. HMS Artois was the fastest and got into action first, delaying the French ship until the other frigates entered the fray, whereupon she surrendered1. Robert Vanier was a French seaman serving on board the Revolutionaire, and his war was a short one: less than a week at sea, followed by captivity first in Portchester Castle, before being transferred to Norman Cross on 10 April 1797. Many of his shipmates were exchanged in May 1799, but not Robert, for he had died on 8 March that year, of ‘an abscess in the head’.2 He lies buried in the prison cemetery.


Throughout history prisoners of war have been the result of battles fought on land and sea. Their treatment has depended upon the available resources, both moral and physical, to look after them in the aftermath of battle. Until the medieval period captives were either killed out of hand as they were regarded as an encumbrance, or sold into slavery as part of the spoils of war. Healthy captives could be used as labourers on the land or for building and drainage works around the countryside, as was the case with thousands of Scots and Dutch captives taken by Parliamentarian forces in 1651–52. They were marched to the low-lying areas of Cambridgeshire, West Norfolk and Huntingdonshire and allocated to cutting drains and dykes, and on the cessation of hostilities those that survived returned home.3


During the eighteenth century things began to improve for prisoners of war, although often slowly and depending upon the captors and where in the world they were captured. It was realised that while taking men captive was a product of war, and denied an enemy its military manpower, at the same time the enemy was also taking captives. It was logical (and humane, although this was not the main consideration) to exchange prisoners and thus retrieve your own nationals, especially if they were trained soldiers, or more importantly seamen who could be used to fight again. Indeed, it was trained seamen the authorities were keen to retrieve from enemy captivity and trained seamen who would be denied to the enemy if at all possible, and so these men were often the last to be included on an exchange list.


The many wars of the eighteenth century generated thousands of captives for the war prisons of Britain, and as the century progressed the numbers of captives to be accommodated increased, so that existing prisons were expanded or new ones constructed. Many of the prisons used during the century were brought back into use during the 1790s. The American Revolutionary War (1775–83) saw a new prison constructed for American captives at Forton, Gosport, and in the last year of the conflict Portchester Castle was properly fitted out as a war prison, with wooden two-storey barracks and administrative buildings being constructed and the medieval part of the castle being expanded to increase accommodation. However, the war ended before this new depot could be brought into service, but the Admiralty thus had experience of designing prison accommodation, aside from utilising existing castles and town jails.4


In the eighteenth century, prisoners of war were administered by the Commissioners for the Care of Sick and Wounded Seamen and of Prisoners of War, commonly known as the Sick and Hurt Board, a department of the Admiralty. This body had been established in 1702 but was not a permanent fixture of naval administration until the 1740s. It continued until 1806, when it was abolished and its functions taken over by the Transport Office.5


The Transport Office, presided over by the Transport Board, came into existence on 4 July 1794, with responsibility for all naval transport of troops and baggage, naval stores both at home and abroad, plus a long list of other duties. The first commissioners of the board were Captain Hugh Cloberry Christian RN, who was appointed chairman; Captain Philip Patton RN; and Mr Ambrose Searle, a civilian appointee who had had much experience of administrative matters when he had served as private secretary to Lord Howe in America. A staff of civilian clerks and naval officials was employed to handle the day-to-day business of the office. Alexander Whitehead was secretary of the board throughout the Revolutionary War, while Captain Rupert George RN became chairman when Christian left that post in June 1795, after becoming Rear-Admiral of the Blue. Captain John Schank RN took the place of Philip Patton when the latter left the board in 1805 to take his flag. This organisation was situated in the Navy Office section of Somerset House, their offices located in the rooms now at the top of the Nelson Stairs.


From its inception the Transport Office gained a reputation for efficiency, and on 25 September 1795 all business relating to prisoners of war was transferred from the Sick and Hurt Board. The latter body continued to be responsible for the health of prisoners and the supply and administration of the prison hospitals. At this time the board gained two further members, a sea-officer and a civilian commissioner, to assist with the increase in work resulting from the administration of prisoners of war. In 1806, there were three divisions of the Transport Board: a branch relating to the transport service; a branch for sick and wounded seamen; and a further branch for prisoners of war. This was the constitution of the office until it was abolished in 1817.6


Norman Cross prison was in the hands of a body of men who had considerable experience of naval matters, including administration. The board met from Monday to Saturday throughout the war and kept detailed records of all its activities, with members acting together at one table and all business conducted by common counsel and consent. The commissioners regularly visited the depots and submitted full reports on their observations and issues requiring further attention. They spoke to all concerned, from the agent, his staff, civilian contractors, and guards to the prisoners themselves, acquiring a full picture of the situation. Their reports were discussed at board meetings and the secretary ensured that all actions arising were fully documented and minutes kept. The board relayed information regarding its activities to the Admiralty, with its records being indexed and cross-referenced, meaning that studying the day-to-day running of a depot such as Norman Cross is facilitated by the efficient bureaucracy of this Admiralty department. Indeed, our vivid picture of the prison is facilitated by the detailed reports written by such men as Ambrose Searle and Rupert George.


Norman Cross was not a prison in isolation. It was part of a nationwide system run by the Transport Office (there were also prison depots abroad), and part of the prison establishment in the east of England that included smaller receiving prisons, prison ships and parole depots. The Transport Office was responsible for three types of depot. The Land Prisons were of varying size, with Norman Cross being one of the largest.


Land Prison Depots in Britain 1793–18157






	Depot


	Period of use


	Capacity







	Forton, Gosport


	1793–1810
1807–1814


	3,000







	Liverpool


	1793–1801


	4,000







	Mill Prison, Plymouth


	1793–1801
1803–1814


	3,000







	Stapleton, Bristol


	1793–1801
1803–1814


	3,000







	Portchester Castle


	1794–1801
1810–1814


	7,000







	Edinburgh Castle


	1796–1801
1804–1814


	1,000







	Norman Cross


	1797–1802
1803–1814


	7,000







	Greenlaw


	1803–1814


	1,000







	Dartmoor


	1809–1816


	7,000







	Esk Mills


	1811


	3,000







	Valleyfield


	1811–1814


	3,000







	Perth


	1812–1814


	7,000








Many of these prisons were used throughout the eighteenth century and expanded as the Revolutionary and Napoleonic Wars progressed. Norman Cross, Dartmoor and Perth were the three purpose-built depots designed to house up to 7,000 captives, but the total population in each was often less than this. There were other smaller sites used as prisons, and often these were receiving depots where men would be landed and confined prior to being moved inland. Norman Cross was served by two such depots: Yarmouth and King’s Lynn.


Yarmouth


Yarmouth Roads, off the Norfolk coast, was a naval anchorage protected by the shore to the west and sandbanks to the east, used to assemble fleets for the Baltic. It was one of the bases used by the North Sea fleet that had an important role to play in blocking invasion, especially when the enemy held Holland and Belgium. In 1797, the fleet based here under Admiral Duncan won the Battle of Camperdown, and it was to this base that many captives from that action arrived, alongside others taken from privateers and merchant vessels in the North Sea and the Baltic. Yarmouth had a stores depot and a naval hospital,8 at which many of the Dutch wounded from Camperdown were treated and where some died from their injuries.


Yarmouth, being on the coast, was unsuitable for holding a large number of prisoners, so it was used to house captives temporarily until they could be conveyed inland to Norman Cross. Many of the prisoners to be found here were French privateer seamen, who before 1797 had often been moved south to depots such as Portchester Castle and Forton, but from that year they would invariably be sent to Norman Cross.9 These men were held in the Tolhouse, on Tolhouse Street, where there was accommodation for 600 men. This building had a long history as a gaol and so was convenient for housing prisoners of war, and now houses a museum telling the story of these captives.


As the wars progressed, Great Yarmouth became a significant receiving port for prisoners of war, and these men were often sent by sea to King’s Lynn from where they were conveyed by water to Peterborough, thus speeding the transfer of captives from the coast to a more secure inland destination. The less fortunate would make the journey on foot, as a contemporary account relates: ‘Columns of prisoners often 1,000 strong were marched from Yarmouth … to Lynn halting at Costessey, East Dereham and thence to Lynn. Here the captives were lodged temporarily in an old warehouse on the north side of the King Staith.’10


King’s Lynn


Lynn was an important trading port, connecting sea trade with Peterborough via the extensive waterways that linked the towns and making it a useful and convenient receiving port for prisoners of war. At Lynn, the prisoners were housed temporarily in a warehouse until they could be ‘packed into barges and lighters and sent up river through the Forty Foot, the Hundred Foot, the Pauper’s Cut, and the Nene to Peterborough whence they marched to Norman Cross’.


While Lynn was not the only port sending prisoners to Norman Cross, it was an important one for the conveyance of captives to this major depot. Prisoners arrived here not only from the theatres of conflict but also when other depots were full and Norman Cross could take the excess. Some of the first prisoners to arrive at the depot via Lynn in March 1797 were on six transports that conveyed 900 prisoners from Plymouth. Captain Woodriff was instructed to find a contractor who could deliver prisoners from the port, and it was stipulated that the cost should be no more than 4s 6d per head (transport plus food) or 5s 0d for sick prisoners who required medical attention on the journey.11


Lynn was one of four cartel ports designated for the reception of British prisoners transported from the French port of Morlaix, and it was to Lynn that many French prisoners were sent for return home in 1814. Thus, many captives at Norman Cross saw this port at the start of their sojourn in England, and again at the end.


The Agents


The administrative command of Norman Cross was in the hands of an agent appointed by the Transport Board. This individual was expected to work effectively with the local military commander, as well as the officers and commissioners of the Transport Office, plus the Sick and Hurt Board to whom the surgeon would report. He thus had to have good managerial skills to work with his superiors, his colleagues and the prisoners themselves.


The Agents at Norman Cross






	Agent


	Rank


	Appointment







	John Delapons


	Civilian


	March 1797







	James Perrot


	Civilian


	April 1797 – January 1799







	Daniel Woodriff


	Captain RN


	January 1799 – April 1802







	Thomas Pressland


	Captain RN


	June 1803 – August 1811







	John Draper


	Captain RN


	August 1811 – February 1813







	William Hanwell


	Captain RN


	February 1813 – August 1814








It was unusual for the board to appoint civilians as agents, but possibly there were no suitable naval candidates during the early years of the depot. John Delapons was appointed on 18 March 1797, but by the 28th he had submitted his resignation. He was replaced in April by another civilian, James Perrot, who remained in post for nearly two years until ill-health led to his death in 1799, his burial being in Stilton churchyard. He was a civilian required to report to naval officers at the Admiralty and work with senior military men on site regarding the security of the prison. Captain Woodriff was the Transport Officer for the east of England, and had the duty of organising the transport of prisoners from the coast and to inform Perrot when this was happening. He was also instructed by the board to ‘inspect Norman Cross prison whenever he accompanied prisoners of war there’12 and to report to the board. In effect, he was the senior naval officer in the area keeping an eye on Perrot, which cannot have been a comfortable situation for the latter. The board instructed Perrot to liaise with Woodriff, and it seems that they were corresponding with both men over the administration of the depot – censuring the former if he did not keep Woodriff fully informed of events. Woodriff had more authority to liaise with the Sick and Hurt Board over medical care of the prisoners, and it is possible that this difficult situation plus the state of his health forced Perrot to resign in early 1799, when Woodriff took over the role of agent.


Captain Daniel Woodriff was an officer the board had complete trust in, as they recorded that with his ‘tried zeal and abilities we have the utmost confidence that the service will be most effectively carried on under his management’.13 He certainly had experience of administration within the Transport Service and so was ideally suited for the job. He was commissioned as lieutenant in 1783, and during the course of his career made two voyages to Australia, the first as naval agent on the convict transport Kitty in 1792. Woodriff was appointed Agent of Transports at Southampton in 1796, and in the early days of the depot he was very active in supervising the arrival and distribution of prisoners from Hull, Yarmouth and Lynn to Norman Cross. His commission as Post Captain was dated 28 April 1802, being appointed to command HMS Calcutta transporting convicts to Port Phillip with the intention of setting up a new settlement there. Whilst in Sydney, Woodriff and the crew of Calcutta assisted in the suppression of a convict rebellion, for which he received a grant of 1,000 acres of land near Penrith, New South Wales.


In 1804, Woodriff and the Calcutta were escorting a convoy from St Helena, when off the Scilly Islands they were attacked by a large French squadron. The Calcutta put up a spirited defence to protect the convoy but was eventually so badly damaged she was forced to surrender. Woodriff was held on parole at Verdun, where he was the most senior naval officer in French captivity and was used by the Admiralty to liaise with the French regarding British naval prisoners of war. Woodriff distributed funds to British seamen and submitted reports on British prisoners held in France. He was exchanged in 1807, and returned home to be appointed Agent for Prisoners of War at Forton Prison, Gosport, and in December 1813 was selected as Commissioner of the Navy at Jamaica. This able and hardworking naval officer died at Greenwich Hospital in 1842,14 and much of the story of Norman Cross during its early years revolves around this man.


Captain Thomas Pressland was agent for much of the Napoleonic period, and was another hardworking and capable officer. The agents and their staff became very much a part of the local community, and the parish records for churches in the area record the many baptisms, marriages and deaths of men and women working at the depot. Pressland resided in the Agent’s House with his family, and love blossomed between his daughter Elizabeth and the depot’s surgeon George H. Walker, for on 18 October 1808 the young couple married in the Church of St John the Baptist in Peterborough. While serving at the depot, both Walker and his wife lived in the Surgeon’s House in the north-east quadrangle, raising a young family within the confines of the prison, where Frenchmen would have heard the cries and laughter of young children as they played within the Surgeon’s garden. Thomas was born in 1809 and was provided with a sister, Isabella, in 1813. Captain Pressland relinquished the role of agent in 1811 due to ill-health, to live with his daughter and son-in-law in the Surgeon’s House until his death on 15 March 1814, aged 59 years. He was buried in St Peter’s Church, where his tombstone can be seen, inscribed on which is also the name of his granddaughter Isabella Sarah Walker, who was buried on 27 April 1815, aged 2 years. The story of Norman Cross prison is not just a story of prisoners of war; it is also the story of the lives of people who administered and guarded them and who were very much part of this diverse community.15


The agents gained the respect of the men they were responsible for, and this is exemplified by the story of Captain John Draper. He succeeded Pressland as agent and remained so until his death in 1813, but his short tenure had an impact upon the prisoners. His tomb is also within St Peter’s Church; a simple tablet inscribed with his name that visitors could easily miss as they walk over it. However, what cannot be ignored is the marble tablet on the wall of the church that states:
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